FILED 7/27/2017 2:42 PM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO. _____ COA NO. 33933-5-III

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

|] | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON |
|---|---------------------------------------|
| | STATE OF WASHINGTON, |
| | Respondent, |
| | v. |
| | AMANDA TORRES, |
| | Petitioner. |
| | APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE |
| | The Honorable Michael McCarthy, Judge |
| | PETITION FOR REVIEW |
| | CASEY GF Attorney for P |

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Amanda Torres with sabotaging rolling stock, malicious mischief and burglary. CP 6-7. A CrR 3.5 hearing was held before trial, but no CrR 3.6 hearing took place because defense counsel did not request one. At the 3.5 hearing, Sergio Reyna, deputy sheriff for Yakima County, testified that he investigated a claim of malicious mischief that occurred at a railroad yard. RP 5-6, 14. Torres's driver's license was found near a gate that was forced open. RP 7-9.

Reyna testified that he went to the address listed on Torres's license with the intention of asking if she knew where it was. RP 8-9. He knocked on the door of the house. RP 9, 17. A "young" female answered. RP 9, 17-18. He did not know how old she was. RP 16. Reyna asked if Torres was home. RP 9. The girl said she was. RP 9, 16. Reyna asked to speak to Torres. RP 17. The girl let him in and led him to a downstairs bedroom. RP 9, 16, 18. The girl identified Torres to the officer. RP 18. Torres and her boyfriend were sleeping on the bed in the room. RP 9, 24. Reyna knocked on a piece of wood. RP 9. Torres got up and Reyna "walked her out" to his patrol car. RP 9. Taking her outside was Reyna's decision. RP 24. He "escorted" her outside, and maybe did so "handson." RP 18-19. He agreed he "grabbed her elbow and led her out of the

house." RP 19. Reyna brought her outside because other people were inside; he "just figured we'd have one-on-one conversation." RP 12.

Torres also testified at the 3.5 hearing. According to Torres, she woke up to the sound of Reyna knocking at about 8 a.m. RP 27, 35. There was a curtain on the doorway. RP 36. Reyna announced "Sheriff's office. I need Amanda Torres to come out." RP 36. She stumbled out of bed in the clothes she slept in, without her shoes. RP 27. She came out of the bedroom because she was scared and didn't know what was going on. RP 36. She was "halfway asleep." RP 36. Reyna escorted her upstairs: "he had me by the arm, and he told me to go with him." RP 28. Torres thought she was under arrest, and felt she had no choice but to go with the officer. RP 28-29. He told her she had to go outside with him. RP 29. Torres's aunt arrived as Reyna was taking Torres from the house. RP 30. Her aunt wanted to know why the officer was in the house, who let him in, and where his warrant was. RP 30. It was her aunt's house. RP 29. The girl who answered the door was her aunt's daughter-in-law. RP 29. She was 13 or 14 years old. RP 30.

There was no dispute that Reyna interrogated Torres in his patrol car, although Reyna and Torres offered differing versions of whether

Miranda¹ rights were read and whether Torres requested a lawyer. RP 9-12, 41-43 (Reyna testimony), 31-34 (Torres testimony). The trial court ruled her statements were admissible, finding Reyna read the Miranda warnings and that Torres voluntarily spoke with him. RP 47-48.

At the ensuing jury trial, Torres's confession figured prominently. The locomotive, enclosed in a gated fence, was damaged. RP 65-66, 74-77, 105-11, 116-17. According to Reyna, Torres admitted she had "made a bad decision damaging the train," that "she was there with her friends drinking, and that she was going to take full responsibility for the damage." RP 159. Torres would not tell him the names of her friends, saying she wasn't "a snitch." RP 159-60. Torres took the stand in her own defense and denied telling Reyna that she had damaged the train. RP 191, 197. A jury found her guilty as charged. CP 32-34.

For the first time on appeal, Torres argued the police officer entered her home and seized her without a warrant, necessitating suppression of the confession. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 1-2, 9-20; Reply Brief (RB) at 1-7. In the alternative, Torres argued her attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel due to the failure to move to suppress evidence based on the Article I, section 7 and Fourth Amendment

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)

violations. BOA at 21-22; RB at 7-8. The Court of Appeals believed the record was insufficiently developed to consider the issues. Slip op. at 13-16. It noted "the broad authority granted under RAP 12.2 and case law allows this court to remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing and factual findings if necessary to resolve an issue on appeal." <u>Id.</u> at 15. The Court of Appeals, however, did not consider "free to remand for an additional hearing on an issue not argued below when the defendant fails to show manifest constitutional error because of an insufficient record." <u>Id.</u> It opined "a personal restraint petition would better serve adjudication of her Fourth Amendment rights." Id.²

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THE POLICE OFFICER VIOLATED TORRES'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRIVACY IN ENTERING HER RESIDENCE WITHOUT A WARRANT.

Deputy Reyna intruded into the home without a warrant to extract Torres, who was sleeping with her boyfriend in her downstairs bedroom. Reyna seized her in taking outside her home and placing her in his patrol car to interrogate her. The statements she made should have been suppressed because they are the result of an unlawful entry and seizure. No exception to the warrant requirement justified the officer's actions.

² The Court of Appeals reversed the sabotaging rolling stock conviction on other grounds. Slip op. at 1.

This manifest constitutional error can be raised for the first time on appeal. In the alternative, defense counsel was ineffective in failing to bring a suppression motion, which likely would have been granted based on prevailing law. Torres's case presents a significant question of constitutional law warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

a. The record shows the officer entered Torres's home and seized her without legal authority, and the girl's apparent consent to enter the home was non-binding on Torres under the common authority doctrine.

Article I, section 7 commands "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Article I, section 7 analysis begins "by determining whether the action complained of constitutes a disturbance of one's private affairs." State v. Miles. 160 Wn.2d 236, 243-44, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). If the government disturbs a valid privacy interest, the second step is to determine whether "authority of law" justifies the intrusion. Miles. 160 Wn.2d at 244. "In no area is a citizen more entitled to his privacy than in his or her home." State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 185, 867 P.2d 593 (1994).

All warrantless entries of a home are presumptively unreasonable under article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment. <u>State v. Hinshaw</u>, 149 Wn. App. 747, 750, 753, 205 P.3d 178 (2009). Deputy Reyna entered Torres's home and went to her bedroom without a warrant so that he could

remove her from her home and interrogate her. Regardless of whether he seized her in so doing, the warrantless entry by itself constitutes a per se unlawful invasion of the home: "any intrusion into the home without a warrant is per se unreasonable." <u>State v. Hatchie</u>, 161 Wn.2d 390, 397, 166 P.3d 698 (2007).

Further, a warrantless seizure is per se unlawful under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 unless it falls within a specific exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Ross, 141 Wn.2d 304, 312, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). A seizure occurs when "considering all the circumstances, an individual's freedom of movement is restrained and the individual would not believe he or she is free to leave or decline a request due to an officer's use of force or display of authority." State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 663, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (quoting State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004)).

Deputy Reyna's account differs from Torres's account in some respects, but the officer seized Torres from her home under his own version of events. Reyna acknowledged taking her outside the home was his decision, not hers. RP 24. He testified at trial that he asked Torres to get up, told her why he was there, and "escorted" her outside to his patrol vehicle. RP 158. He "walked her out" to his patrol car. RP 9. At the CrR 3.5 hearing, Reyna answered "okay" to the question "You grabbed her

elbow and led her out of the house?" RP 19; see State v. Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 512, 957 P.2d 681 (1998) (show of authority constituting seizure includes "some physical touching of the person of the citizen."). Torres was asleep in her bedroom with her boyfriend when Reyna showed up at the doorway, woke her up, physically escorted her out of the house, and placed her in his patrol car to interrogate her. RP 9, 18-19, 24, 42, 157-58. Reyna seized Torres.

The State argued "It is not a seizure where an officer approaches an individual in public and requests to talk to him or her, engages in conversation, or requests identification, so long as the person involved need not answer and may walk away." Brief of Respondent (BOR) at 4 (emphasis added) (citing State v. Armenta. 134 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997)). Deputy Reyna did not approach Torres in public. He approached her inside her home and he took her out of it. Torres woke up to an officer on the threshold of her bedroom, directing her to come out. "[P]hysical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 585, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 63 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1980) (quoting United States v. United States District Court, 407 U.S. 297, 313, 92 S. Ct. 2125, 32 L. Ed. 2d 752 (1972)). "[S]earches and seizures in public places are treated differently than searches and seizures occurring in the home." Young, 123

Wn.2d at 189. "'[T]he closer officers come to intrusion into a dwelling, the greater the constitutional protection." <u>Id.</u> at 185 (quoting <u>State v.</u> <u>Chrisman</u>, 100 Wn.2d 814, 820, 676 P.2d 419 (1984)).

"The burden of proof is on the State to show that a warrantless search or seizure falls within one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement." State v. Morse, 156 Wn.2d 1, 7, 123 P.3d 832 (2005). The State did not dispute the investigative stop exception to the warrant requirement does not apply inside the home and that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to seize Torres. BOR at 14. Instead, the State relied on the consent exception to the warrant requirement. Id. at 6-8. In cases involving cohabitants, the Supreme Court has adopted the common authority rule: "One who has equal or lesser control over a premises does not have authority to consent for those who are present and have equal or greater control." Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 4-5. Consent based on apparent authority is not an exception to the warrant requirement under article I, section 7. Id. at 12. "When a cohabitant who has equal or greater authority to control the premises is present, his consent must be obtained." <u>Id.</u> at 15.

The consent exception does not justify the warrantless intrusion into the home. The record shows Torres lived there. Deputy Reyna went to Torres's home, using the address listed on her driver's license. RP 8-9,

119, 155. The driver's license listing Torres's address is sufficient by itself to show it was her residence. See RCW 46.20.161 (license must include "Washington residence address"). The State listed the residence as Torres's address in the charging document. CP 3, 6. Torres had a bedroom in the house in which she slept. RP 9, 27. At the CrR 3.5 hearing, Torres agreed with counsel's question that Deputy Reyna "came to your house on July 7th." RP 27. The record clearly shows the house into which Deputy Reyna intruded was Torres's residence.

A girl of about 13 years of age answered the door in response to the officer's knocking. RP 9, 17-18, 30. She was the aunt's daughter-in-law. RP 29. Reyna testified she let him into the house. RP 9, 16, 18. Assuming arguendo the girl was a cohabitant, and further assuming a minor can give lawful consent to enter and seize an adult, she still had no authority to consent to the officer's entry. Torres was present. But the officer made no attempt to obtain her consent prior to entering. Thus, even if the girl consented to the entry, the officer did not obtain Torres's consent, which is a prerequisite to a lawful, warrantless entry.

In the Court of Appeals, the State argued "the only conclusion that can be drawn from these facts is that [the girl] had at least co-equal rights in this residence." Brief of Respondent at 16. A cohabitant with common authority cannot give consent that is binding upon another cohabitant with

equal control over the premises when the nonconsenting cohabitant is actually present on the premises. Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 13. Torres was present in the home. Deputy Reyna did not get Torres's consent to enter. The girl's consent is not binding on Torres. The officer's intrusion into the house without a warrant cannot be justified under the consent exception to the warrant requirement.

The Court of Appeals held Torres did not establish manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)(3) because the record lacked "key facts" for determining the constitutionality of the officer's actions. The key facts, however, show a warrantless intrusion into the home, which is unconstitutional regardless of whether the deputy seized Torres. Furthermore, the key facts show an unconstitutional seizure even under Deputy Reyna's version of events.

Some "critical unresolved facts" identified by the Court of Appeals included "the identity of the young lady answering the knock on the front door, the youngish woman's role in the home, Amanda Torres' standing in the residence, [and] whether Torres and the young lady held equal rights to control the premises or whether the other girl possessed subordinate rights." Slip op. a 13. As argued, the record shows this was Torres's residence, so her standing is known. The identity of the young person who opened the door and her role in the home informs "whether Torres

and the young lady held equal rights to control the premises or whether the other girl possessed subordinate rights." <u>Id.</u> So even under the Court of Appeals' formulation, the girl at best possessed equal rights to control the premises. Under <u>Morse</u>, that is not good enough to render consent constitutionally valid.

But even if the consent to enter was valid, or the record is insufficient to determine its validity, there is no dispute Deputy Reyna lacked reasonable suspicion to seize Torres once he was inside. "[I]n justifying the particular intrusion the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 (2010) (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)). Hunches and innocuous facts do not warrant police intrusion into people's everyday lives. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d at 63; Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 13. Reyna intruded into the home and seized Torres because her ID was found outside the railyard gate. Reyna acted on a hunch, not reasonable suspicion.

The exclusionary rule mandates suppression of evidence obtained via the government's illegality. <u>Harrington</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 664; <u>Hinshaw</u>, 149 Wn. App. at 756. Such evidence includes inculpatory statements of the defendant. <u>Wong Sun v. United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471, 485-86, 83 S. Ct.

407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963). Torres's statements to the police officer must be suppressed. They are the direct result of the officer's unlawful entry and seizure. The convictions must be reversed and the charges dismissed with prejudice because there is insufficient evidence to prove guilt once the unlawfully obtained evidence is excluded. See State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 778-79, 224 P.3d 751 (2009) (no basis remained for conviction where motion to suppress evidence should have been granted).

b. The record shows defense counsel was ineffective in failing to bring a suppression motion.

Torres is guaranteed the constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. "A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue of constitutional magnitude that may be considered for the first time on appeal." State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

Defense counsel is ineffective where the attorney's performance was deficient and the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. To determine whether counsel was ineffective, "we look at the record and assess the chances that a suppression motion would have succeeded." State v. Horton, 136 Wn. App. 29, 36, 146 P.3d 1227 (2006).

Reasonable attorney conduct includes a duty to research the relevant law. <u>Kyllo</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 862. The relevant law is that "a citizen's privacy is most protected in his or her home, and any intrusion into the home without a warrant is per se unreasonable." <u>Hatchie</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 397. As argued, the officer's actions were not justified by an exception to the warrant requirement. Torres's statements to the officer formed the centerpiece of the State's case yet counsel did not challenge their admissibility despite the per se illegality of the officer's actions in securing those statements.

"A criminal defendant receives constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel where no legitimate strategic or tactical explanation can be found for a particular trial decision." State v. Meckelson, 133 Wn. App. 431, 433, 135 P.3d 991 (2006), review denied, 159 Wn.2d 1013, 154 P.3d 919 (2007). "Failure to bring a plausible motion to suppress potentially unlawfully obtained evidence is one such decision." Meckelson, 133 Wn. App. at 433; see also State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004) (defense counsel's failure to move for suppression of drugs abandoned in vehicle after defendant was unlawfully seized was both deficient and prejudicial). Torres has established deficient performance because there is no legitimate reason for failing to bring the suppression motion.

To establish prejudice, Torres need only show "a reasonable probability that a motion to suppress would have been granted." State v. Klinger, 96 Wn. App. 619, 629, 980 P.2d 282 (1999). A motion to suppress evidence based on the illegality of the warrantless entry and seizure would likely have succeeded for the reasons set forth above. "[B]oth Strickland prongs will be satisfied if counsel fails to seek suppression where the record suggests that a motion likely would have succeeded." Horton, 136 Wn. App. at 36. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, Torres has established both deficient performance and prejudice based on the available record.

2. APPELLATE COURTS HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO REACH THE MERITS OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

If the Court of Appeals is correct in deeming the record insufficient to show manifest constitutional error, then remand for an evidentiary hearing is appropriate. RAP 12.2 provides "[t]he appellate court may reverse, affirm, or modify the decision being reviewed and take any other action as the merits of the case and the interest of justice may require." The Court of Appeals noted "the broad authority granted under RAP 12.2 and case law allows this court to remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing and factual findings if necessary to resolve an issue on

appeal." Slip op. at 15. The Court of Appeals nonetheless did not consider itself "free to remand for an additional hearing on an issue not argued below when the defendant fails to show manifest constitutional error because of an insufficient record." Id.

The question of substantial public interest presented by this appeal is under what circumstances the reviewing court may remand for an evidentiary hearing to develop the factual record for a constitutional issue not raised at the trial level. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

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