FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2017 4:34 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94818-6

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

AMANDA TORRES, Appellant/Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

#### ARGUMENT

Petitions for review are governed by RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the standard an appellant must meet before their case will be accepted by this court for review. Torres claims the Court of Appeals opinion merits review under sections (b) (1), (2) and (3). The court of appeals opinion does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) The Court of Appeals opinion does not <u>1</u>) Conflict with any decision by this court; **2**) The opinion does not conflict with any opinion of the other two divisions of the Court of Appeals (<u>3</u>) the opinion does not address issues that are significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the Constitution of United States and <u>4</u>) The issues raised in this petition for review do not involve any issues of substantial public interest that this court should address.

Torres reiterates her Court of Appeals argument in her petition, this repetition does not move this issue past simple fact, as stated by the court of appeals, that this issue was not raised in the trial court and the issues do not fall within the parameters of RAP 2.5. Trial counsel for Torres was Mr. Chad Dold, Mr. Dold is an extremely experienced trial attorney. These two allegation are based on pure speculation. The allegation that there was an unlawful entry into the home were Torres was sleeping was not raised in the trial court. The claim that Mr. Dold's alleged failure to raise this issue is therefore ineffectiveness is grounded on air.

The court of appeals correctly stated this matter was not raised in the trial court, there is therefore no record and as such there was no basis for that court to remand for some sort of hearing. There was a hearing conducted at the time the Omnibus order was entered and an order to confirm Torres's position regarding the alleged illegal search, by not raising it in the trial court case law strongly supports the actions of the trial attorney at the same time clearly stating that the actions of the court of review is not to re-litigate the case but to review was actions occurred in trial. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689-90, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80

#### L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)

Torres claims in subsection (b) of her petition that Mr. Dold was ineffective because "the per se illegality of the officer's actions in securing (Torres's) statements." But Torres once again cannot get past the record, the facts and the procedure that took place in the trial court. Facts Torres chose to place in the trial court record, or not, do not support this allegation. There is absolutely nothing in the trial court record that would demonstrate a "per se illegality" for anything that this officer did. The deputy prosecutor, the trial court judge and trial counsel all swore an oath to uphold the laws and constitution of this state. They did not collude to trample on the right of Torres.

This court of appeals based its ruling on well-founded law which is not in conflict with any case from this court or other courts of appeal in this state. The hindsight claim that trial counsel was ineffective because he did not raise this issue is not supported by the facts of the case and certainly not supported by the efforts displayed by trial counsel for Torres.

While the opinion of the Court of Appeals is of significant interest to Ms. Torres it does not met the criterion that the issues addressed in the opinion are significant questions of law under either constitution listed in RAP 13.4.

The Court of Appeals opinion is premised on State v. McFarland,

127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) and is merely a recitation of the long standing standard set out in that case, if there is no record to support the claim then no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest:

As an exception to the general rule, therefore, RAP 2.5(a)(3) is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court. Rather, the asserted error must be "manifest" - i.e., it must be "truly of constitutional magnitude". <u>Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 688. The defendant must identify a constitutional error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights; it is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest", allowing appellate review. <u>Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 688; <u>Lynn</u>, 67 Wn. App. at 346. *If the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest*. <u>State v. Riley</u>, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). (Emphasis added.)

Torres continues to state that the person who opened the door of this residence was a "girl" clearly attempting to imply that she was too young to be able to grant entry. Testimony from Torres herself refutes this. That testimony was that this "girl" was the <u>daughter-in-law</u> of the home owner, the defendant narrowed this to the "girl" was under 18, then again that she was maybe 13 or 14. As the State pointed out in its opening brief "It is very noteworthy that the defendant describes this "[m]aybe 13, 14" year old as the "daughter-in-law" of her aunt, a term that literally means "the wife of one's son" and it is doubtful to say the least that this married person who answered the door is "[m]aybe 13,14." RP 29-30. There was never any dispute that this young woman was a "daughter-in-law."

It is just as reasonable to believe that this "suppression issue" was not raised in the trial court because trial counsel knew that the relationship of the young woman who opened the door was such that there was in fact no issue which could have been legitimately raised and therefore there was no issue to raise.

Torres clearly had access to this witness and if she and her attorney believed that there was a chance for this search to be defeat by merely putting her on the stand and demonstrating that she was not of the age to grant consent to enter they would have done so. Torres move to suppress the statements due to an illegal entry. She did not call this witness for tactical reasons, by doing so Torres could allege to the trial court that this person was too young to grant consent without the State having occasion to cross-examine her about her age and status within this home. One can easily infer that a "daughter-in-law" living in a home had co-equal or even superior rights over a cousin living in an area of the basement that does not even have a door. Even in this day in age it is hard to imagine a "daughter-in-law" who is only 13.

Mr. Dold raised the issue regarding the officers questioning Torres

at or in the officer's patrol vehicle. Dold raised the issue regarding Torres rights in that location, an interview that was literally the end result of the officer moving Torres from the basement of this home to the officer's patrol car. Therefore, Dold clearly knew of the possibility that the officer's actions could be challenged and yet he exercised his professional judgment and did not move to suppress.

Mr. Dold was not ineffective, he raised those issues that he as the trial attorney working directly with Ms. Torres and having personally interviewed the witness, knew and/or believed were valid issues that had a real chance of being granted by the trial court.

Once again <u>McFarland</u>, which has been cited in nearly two thousand cases in Washington addresses an alleged failure to bring a motion to suppress, opining that it is not per se deficient performance;

> We will not presume a CrR 3.6 hearing is required in every case in which there is a question as to the validity of a search and seizure, so that failure to move for a suppression hearing in such cases is per se deficient representation. Because the presumption runs in favor of effective representation, the defendant must show in the record the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel. There may be legitimate strategic or tactical reasons why a suppression hearing is not sought at trial. The presumption of effective representation can be overcome only by a showing of deficient representation based on the record established in the proceedings below. <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 336. (Citations omitted.)

See also, State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 162 P.3d 1122

(2007);

Not every possible motion to suppress has to be made. In McFarland, we rejected the premise that failing to move to suppress any time there is a question as to the validity of a search or seizure is per se deficient performance. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d at 336-37, 899 P.2d 1251. Such a rule turns the presumption of effectiveness "on its head," and instead "the burden is on the defendant to show from the record a sufficient basis to rebut the 'strong presumption' counsel's representation was effective." Id. at 337, 899 P.2d 1251. Counsel may legitimately decline to move for suppression on a particular ground if the motion is unfounded. Thus, although the presumption of effectiveness can fail if there is no legitimate tactical explanation for counsel's actions, State v. Aho, 137 Wash.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999), there is no ineffectiveness if a challenge to admissibility of evidence would have failed, State v. G.M.V., 135 Wn.App. 366, 372, 144 P.3d 358 (2006).

Mr. Dold must have believed there was no viable ground to move

for suppression. This was a consensual entry were one co-tenant physically led the officer to the "room" were Torres was sleeping.

The court of appeals cited a considerable number of cases from this court and all three divisions of the court of appeals. All of these cases are still "good law." The use of these tried and true cases resulted in an opinion which does not conflict with any other opinion of this court or any other court of review in this state. Cases such as:

A party may not generally raise a new argument on appeal that the party did not present to the trial court. RAP 2.5; <u>In re Det. of Ambers</u>, 160 Wn.2d 543, 557 n.6, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007).

A party must inform the court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and afford the trial court an opportunity to correct any error. <u>Smith v. Shannon</u>, 100 Wn.2d 26, 3 7, 666 P .2d 3 51 (1983).

We may decline to consider an issue inadequately argued below. <u>International Association of Fire Fighters</u>, <u>Local 46 v. City of Everett</u>, 146 Wn.2d 29, 36-37, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002).

No procedural principle is more familiar than that a constitutional right, or a right of any other sort, may be forfeited in criminal cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it. <u>United States v. Olano</u>, 507 U.S. 725,731,113 S. Ct. 1770, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993); <u>Yakus v. United States</u>, 321 U.S. 414,444, 64 S. Ct. 660, 88 L. Ed. 834 (1944).

Sound reasoning lies behind the requirement that arguments be first asserted at trial. The prerequisite affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly on a matter before it can be presented on appeal. <u>State v. Strine</u>, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013).

There is great potential for abuse when a party does not raise an issue below because a party so situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal. <u>State v. Weber</u>, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271-72, 149 P.3d 646 (2006); <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762,278 P.3d 653 (2012).

The theory of preservation by timely objection also addresses several other concerns. The rule serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and further trials, facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the issues will be available, and prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the prevailing party is not deprived of victory by claimed errors that he had no opportunity to address. <u>State v. Strine</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 749-50 (2013); see <u>State v. Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). (Slip opinion.) Regarding the Court of Appeals alleged belief that they could not remand for a hearing, the Court of Appeals made a circular argument which is somewhat confusing but in the end comes to the correct conclusion. The court cites to the rule that allows remand, it cites to cases were remand occurred and then it states that those cases can be distinguished from this case and reiterates the tried and true rule that if you fail to raise it you wave it. The court stated;

Nevertheless, the State in *Brown* or *Mitchell* did not question the presence of manifest constitutional error because of a failure to assert a contention before the respective trial courts. We do not consider ourselves free to remand for an additional hearing on an issue not argued below when the defendant fails to show manifest constitutional error because of an insufficient record. Amanda Torres' filing of a personal restraint petition would better serve adjudication of her Fourth Amendment rights.

Certainly the court of appeals is not stating that any appellant who claims that the record is not complete or that the actions of their attorney were such that information that they wished to be on the record was not placed on the record should get a remand hearing. It is also clear from this portion of the opinion that the court is not stating it would or will grant Torres some right to a remand hearing regarding the record if and when she was to file a personal restraint petition.

What the court is stating is that there is an avenue for this type of

unsupported allegation to be raised and that is NOT on direct appeal.

Direct appeal has to comport with certain rules.

Torres's claim that the court of appeals was "complaining" that it could not remand completely misreads that single paragraph of this twenty-six-page opinion. The court is just simply restating that if a defendant does not raise an issue in her trial the court of review does not have the ability give them a "do-over." The court wrote:

We note that the broad authority granted under RAP 12.2 and case law allows this court to remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing and factual findings if necessary to resolve an issue on appeal. Nevertheless, the State in *Brown* or *Mitchell* did not question the presence of manifest constitutional error because of a failure to assert a contention before the respective trial courts. We do not consider ourselves free to remand for an additional hearing on an issue not argued below when the defendant fails to show manifest constitutional error because of an insufficient record. Amanda Torres' filing of a personal restraint petition would better serve adjudication of her Fourth amendment rights. (Citations omitted)

Torres urges this court to ignore the rules of appellate procedure

and paint this case with an enormously broad brush under RAP 12.2. She urges this court to take "certain realities" into account and impose this extreme approach because she would be bound by the rules that all other litigants are bound by.

Personal Restraint Petitions have a different standard,

purposefully. The rules are put into place for this very type of claim.

That after conviction and with an apparent new clarity Torres now realizes that she should have placed more information into the record. That she was wronged by her counsel who according to the Court of Appeals was in this instance correct when he argued that the first count of the information was not proven. She argues that she should be allowed to have her trial conducted in the manner it was BUT now that the outcome does not suit her she should get to go back to trial and make a new "better" record that may win the day.

<u>In re Personal Restraint of Brockie</u>, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498, 503 (2013)

On collateral review the burden shifts. If a constitutional error is subject to harmless error analysis on direct appeal, that same error alleged in a PRP must be shown to have caused actual and substantial prejudice in order for the petitioner to obtain relief. This rule is based on the fundamental principle that " [a] personal restraint petition, like a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, is not a substitute for an appeal." Collateral relief is limited because it " undermines the principles of finality of litigation, degrades the prominence of the trial, and sometimes costs society the right to punish admitted offenders."

[I]n order to prevail in a collateral attack, a petitioner must show that more likely than not he was prejudiced by the error." The court determines actual prejudice " in light of the totality of circumstances." (Citations omitted.)

If this court were to accept Torres argument regarding remand for

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